## IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

LAVAN YANKTON		APPELLANT
v.		NO. 2009-KA-1075-COA
STATE OF MISSISSIPPI		APPELLEE
	BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT	

MISSISSIPPI OFFICE OF INDIGENT APPEALS W. Daniel Hinchcliff, MS Bar No 301 North Lamar Street, Suite 210 Jackson, Mississippi 39201 Telephone: 601-576-4200

Counsel for Lavan Yankton

#### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

LAVAN YANKTON

**APPELLANT** 

V.

NO. 2009-KA-1075-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

## CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
FACTS
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT
CONCLUSION10
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

FEDERAL CASES
Robinson v. State, So3d, 2009 WL 1524913 (Miss. App. June 2, 2009)
STATE CASES
Adams v. State, 794 So.2d 1049, 1055 (Miss. 2001)
<u>Jasper v. State</u> , 759 So.2d 1136, 1141 (Miss. 1999)
Jones v. State, 913 So.2d 436, 439 (Miss. App. 2005)
STATE STATUTES
COURT RULES
MRE 403
MRE 404
MRE 607
MRE 608
MDT (00

LAVAN YANKTON APPELLANT

V.

NO. 2009-KA-1075-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

## BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

## **ISSUES**

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

ISSUE NO 1: WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING THE SATE TO PUT ON EVIDENCE OF OTHER BAD ACTS TO SHOW THAT APPELLANT ACTED IN CONFORMITY WITH SAID ACTS AND WHERE THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT PERFORM A BALANCING TEST.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal proceeds from the Circuit Court of Forrest County, Mississippi, and a judgement of conviction against Lavan Yankton for the crime of aggravated domestic violence and a sentence of twenty (20) years following a jury trial commence on April 28, 2009, Honorable Robert B. Helfrich, Circuit Judge, presiding. Lavon Yankton is currently incarcerated in an institution under the supervision of the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

#### **FACTS**

Prior to trail, the defense brought on a motion to dismiss, arguing lack of prosecution. The motion was denied and the State's motion for a continuance was granted. The trial court held stating it was the courts fault for not bringing a jury in for the scheduled trial date in February. Trial was commenced 424 days from the date of the indictment.

Cynthia Bessie Yankton married Lavan Yankton on December 6, 1989 in a tribal ceremony on the Indian reservation in South Dakota. She was pregnant at the time with the first of their six offspring, (T. 78-79) Due to Lavan's job in the cable industry, it was necessary that the couple move frequently. On September 26, 2007, they lived in Hattiesburg, Mississippi. (T. 80) Cynthia reported, over objection that the relationship "wasn't the greatest", that Lavan often got mad. She denied, again over objection that Lavan had "ever hit [her]." (T. 82-83) Several days before the date alleged in the indictment, Lavan lost money she had earned while gambling and Cynthia said she was upset. So she left for two days. When she came back, she wrapped up in a dog blanket on the back porch. (T. 83-85) Contradicting her previous testimony, she said she stayed on the porch because she was scared, that he had previously "hurt' her. An objection to prior bad acts was not ruled on, the court advising the State that it was "treading on thin ice" and to "move along." (T. 86) On the Wednesday, Lavan came home from work and told her they needed to talk. According to Ms. Yankton's testimony, Lavan then grabbed her by the hair, threw her down and kicked her. Then he picked up a chain and beat her. After throwing her into their bedroom, Ms. Yankton claimed her husband then picked up a hatchet and struck her, blunt-side to the head. According to Cynthia Yankton's testimony, Yankton then requested Cynthia lay down next to him, and disrobe. (T. 88) He then placed handcuffs on her.

While Yankton slept, she arose, shimmied into some shorts and called the police. She testified she had been taken to the hospital. Photographs, taken at the hospital were identified by Cynthia and admitted into evidence. (T. 93-103) After returning home that evening, Cynthia Yankton claimed Lavan Yankton had come to the apartment. She then left and went to the salvation Army. Afterwards, she returned to South Dakaota.

While in South Dakota, she was presented with several letters (C.P. Exhibits 33,34,35) One, addressed to "Whom it May Concern" and another to "Mr. Hedgepeth" were signed by her. One letter was notarized. The letters contradicted her testimony at trial, relating that she was unaware of the identity of her attacker. At the urging of the prosecutor, she explained that the letters had been given to her by her nephew, who claimed her signing the letters would help her get her kids back. She explained that she did not even know how to type. (T. 106-109)

Cross examined by attorney Grant Hedgepeth, she told him she did not remember speaking with him on the telephone. She recalled vaguely a conversation with someone from another state. Ms. Yankton could not deny she originally told the police that her injuries were the result of a bicycle accident. (T. 112) She admitted that she did not tell the police anything about being smothered with a pillow, even though, at trial, she claimed Yankton had tried to smother her with a pillow. (T. 113) The letters (C.P. Exhibits 33,34,35) were offered and admitted into evidence and published to the jury. Ms. Yankton said she did not read the letters. Cynthia Yankton admitted that she had, in fact, been in a bicycle accident the week before.

Redirect testimony explored past violence between Lavan and Cynthia over objection of the defense. The defense objected that this redirect was beyond the cross examination, and was a change in her previous testimony to no previous violence. Again the trial court appeared to sustain the motion by advising the State to "move along." The State then coaxed an agreement from Cynthia that there had been prior violent acts by Lavan. No balancing test was made as to the probity versus prejudice of the admission of these prior bad acts. (T. 127-130)

Hattiesburg police officer Herbert Cocroth responded to a 911 call and found Cynthia Yankton answering the door in handcuffs. She asked for assistance in removing the handcuffs. Cocroth called in another officer. When that officer arrived, he removed the cuffs. (T. 133-136)

Officer Cocroth inquired about abrasions and bruises he observed and was informed by Cynthia that she had fallen off her bicycle. Cocroth did not believe and asked Cynthia Yankton again what had happened. The over objection, she claimed to be the victim of domestic abuse. Cocroth called in an ambulance and additional police. He entered the residence, where he observed a chain and hatchet. (T. 137-148)

The emergency room doctor who treated Ms. Yankton, was accepted as an expert and testified he examined Cynthia Yankton. He found multiple bruises and a laceration on her scalp. She claimed she had been assaulted by her husband and that he had struck her with the blunt edge of a hatchet. The State solicited an opinion as to the cause of the head wound and the defense objected that such an opinion was outside his expertise. The court held that "as an emergency room doctor" he could opine as to the cause of the head injury.

Witness Latasha Meyers, a Hattiesburg police woman was called by the State with the intention of establishing a factual basis for a flight instruction, but in a hearing outside the presence of the jury, the court ruled such testimony would not support a flight instruction. During her testimony the trial court found that the defense had opened the door to her testimony concerning what Cynthia Yankton said at the hospital regarding how she received her injuries. (T.185-200)

Upon these proofs the state rested. Yankton was advised of his *Culverson* rights and chose to not testify. The motion for a directed verdict was denied. Objections to instructions were resolved outside of the record by the attorneys. After closing argument, the jury retired. A verdict of guilty was returned, a poll showing the verdict was unanimous.

A hearsay objection to the doctor's repeating what Cynthia Yankton told him was overruled as medical history.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The jury was allowed to hear evidence of other bad acts, clearly intended as evidence to show

Lavan Yankton had acted in conformity with said prior acts. The trial court filed to exclude such

evidence, nor did it conduct a balancing test.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE NO 1: WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING THE SATE TO PUT ON EVIDENCE OF OTHER BAD ACTS TO SHOW THAT APPELLANT ACTED IN

CONFORMITY WITH SAID ACTS AND WHERE THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT

PERFORM A BALANCING TEST.

The State, in its re-direct examination of Cynthia Yankton, was allowed over objection to

introduce prior bad acts of Yankton hitting her, contrary to her previous testimony, and with the clear

intention that the jury consider the prior instances of hitting as evidence that Lavan Yankton acted

in conformity with the prior acts. This was readily apparent in the record:

REDIRECT EXAMINATION BY MS. COLEMAN:

Q. Cynthia, defense counsel asked you several times if Lavan had

never hit you, why were you afraid of him.

A. Because of the things he did to me in the past.

O. What kind of things?

Put me in the trunk of a car. A.

MR. HEDGEPETH: Your Honor, I object. She had

already testified that there's never been any violence in this home, and now she's trying to change her

testimony again.

MS. COLEMAN: Your honor, he crossed her

repeatedly about - -

THE COURT: Go ahead.

MS COLEMAN: Thank you.

5

#### BY MS COLEMAN

Q. You may go ahead, Cynthia.

A. When we lived in Lincoln, Nebraska with his mom, I broke my collar bone riding a bike. We were coming back from a bar. I don't know what I was thinking riding that bike, but I rode it. He was riding one too. And I did the same thing there. I just left for a couple of days. I came back he was mad. His mom owned a blue Cadillac that he bought for her for helping us take care of our kids. And I walked away. I walked to this store called Russ' that had pay phones there. I went to use the pay phone, and I happened to turn my head, and he was standing there. He told me to get in the car. I got in the car, and he pulled over. He was with another guy. He told me to get in the trunk. And he just hit me real hard while I was in the trunk of the car...So we went home. He took me out of the trunk, sat me in the front, and he took me out to this park, and just started hitting on me. His mom- - I mean, she was alive at the time, but when they pulled in at her house - - she had a garage. We pulled in right there. He backed in. He grabbed my glasses and threw them and was just --

MR. HEDGEPETH: Your Honor, I'm going to object to all this again. This is prior bad acts. I was going into what the State had brought out, cross-examining her about - - stated there had been - -

THE COURT: Let's move along, Ms. Coleman.

THE COURT: Thank you.

MR. HEDGEPETH: And now she's trying to change it all up.

THE COURT: Let's move along.

(T. 127-128) Cynthia's testimony was clearly a comparison, when I left for two days in the past, Lavan confined me and hit me, just like now. Three attempts to object to this highly prejudicial evidence which was obviously a surprise to the defense, were simply disregarded by the trial court. Cynthia Yankton was allowed to prove the alleged crime with prior nearly identical acts which is strictly prohibited by Mississippi Court Rules, Rule of Evidence:

Rule 404. Character Evidence Not Admissible to Prove Conduct; Exceptions; Other Crimes

- (a) Character Evidence Generally. Evidence of a person's character or a trait of his character is not admissible for the purpose of proving that he acted in conformity therewith on a particular occasion, except:
- (1) Character of Accused. Evidence of a pertinent trait of his character offered by an accused, or by the prosecution to rebut the same;
- (2) Character of Victim. Evidence of a pertinent trait of character of the victim of the crime offered by an accused, or by the prosecution to rebut the same, or evidence of a character trait of peacefulness of the victim offered by the prosecution to rebut evidence that the victim was the first aggressor;
- (3) Character of Witness. Evidence of the character of a witness, as provided in Rules 607, 608, and 609.
- (b) Other Crimes, Wrongs, or Acts. Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show that he acted in conformity therewith. It may, however, be admissible for other purposes such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident.

M.R.E. Rule 404. Such testimony was purely intended to prove conformity, that Yankton did it before, and therefore, he did it again. "This rule exists to prevent the State from suggesting that, since a defendant has committed other crimes previously, the probability is greater that he is also guilty of the offense for which he is presently charged." *Jasper v. State*, 759 So.2d 1136, 1141 (Miss. 1999) And, where an objection has been entered to other crimes evidence, MRE 403 and a balancing test are automatically invoked:

"[E]ven when other-crimes evidence is admissible under M.R.E. 404(b), it must pass through the 'ultimate filter' of M.R.E. 403." Id. at (¶24). Additionally, "when other-crimes evidence is admitted under M.R.E. 404(b) a limiting instruction is required[.]" Id. In the event that "404(b) evidence is offered and there was an

objection which is overruled, the objection shall be deemed an invocation of the right to [an] M.R.E. 403 balancing analysis and a limiting instruction." Id. "The court shall conduct [a Rule 403 balancing test]..

Robinson v. State, \_\_\_So3d \_\_\_, 2009 WL 1524913 (Miss. App. June 2, 2009) Thus, even though the trial judge admitted this errant and prejudicial evidence, it was still required to conduct a balancing test.

The State had, even before re-direct attempted to push evidence of prior bad acts. While asking about the incident the following questions and ruling transpired:

#### BY MS. COLEMAN

- Q. You may go ahead. When you came into the house, go ahead.
- A. Well, he approached me. He just looked at me. Just gave me this look cause I'm scared of him, but i can't even talk to him.
- Q. Can you tell the jury why you were scared of him?
- A. Because in the past he did hurt me before, and I know what he was capable of doing.
- Q. What do you mean by he hurt you before?

MR. HEDGEPETH: Your Honor, I'm going to object as going into prior bad acts.

MS. COLEMAN: He just said she had no basis for fear. I'm asking her to explain that to the jury.

THE COURT: You're treading on thin ice, Ms. Coleman. Can't you go on with the question about what happened here?

MS. COLEMAN: I'm sorry.

THE COURT: Let's move along and find out what happened in this incident.

(T. 86) This objective of the State, to use prior incidents of any hurting, as evidence of Yankton's

acting in conformity with the prior acts, began almost at the onset on the questioning of Cynthia Yankton, and it is critical to note, initially Cynthia Yankton denied that her husband had ever struck her previously.

Q. Was he ever physical with you; ever hit you?

MR. HEDGEPETH: Object, your Honor. Irrelevant. She's trying to get into prior bad acts.

THE COURT: Overruled.

Ms. Yankton then testified that she had never been hit by Lavan Yankton. Yet as seen above the State persisted in it's quest to portray Lavan Yankton as a serial abuser. And the reason this tactic was necessary was obvious, Ms. Yankton had impeached herself from the onset. Her multiple explanations; that she fell off her bike, that she was not sure who hit her, that she was not conscious. The State needed more, and broke the rules to show that Yankton had hit Cynthia before when she disappeared for days, and that he had done it again. And the trial court committed reversible error when it permitted the State to do so. Further, the error was compounded when te trial court not only ruled this improper evidence was admissible, but failed to weigh it's prejudicial nature against it's probative value.

Where proof of other crimes or acts of the defendant is offered into evidence pursuant to Rule 404(b), it is still subject to the requirement that its probative value substantially outweigh the danger of unfair prejudice under Rule 403. Adams v. State, 794 So.2d 1049, 1055 (¶ 14)(Miss.Ct.App.2001).

Jones v. State, 913 So.2d 436, 439 (Miss. App. 2005) The error of admission of the prior bad acts and the failure to weigh the evidence as required by long standing precedent, requires reversal of this case.

## **CONCLUSION**

Appellant Lavan Yankton respectfully submits that premised upon the foregoing argument, the judgement of the lower court must be reversed and rendered or in the alternative remanded for a new trial.