## IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

LAVON YANKTON

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

NO. 2009-KA-1075

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

### BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

## APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: JOHN R. HENRY

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

#

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal against a judgment of the Circuit Court of Forrest County, Mississippi in which the Appellant was convicted and sentenced for his felony of **AGGRAVATED DOMESTIC ASSAULT.** 

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Appellant does not challenge the weight or the sufficiency of the evidence of his guilt.

For that reason it will not be necessary to set out at length the facts of his guilt.

The victim in the case at bar, Cynthia Yankton, married the Appellant in 1989 on an Indian reservation when she was eight months pregnant. The marriage was a fruitful one in that she went on to conceive and bear six sons. The family moved about often on account of the Appellant's work.

In September of 2007, the victim found herself in Hattiesburg with three of her sons, living behind the Harley - Davidson store. The Appellant was there as well. The Appellant and the victim argued often. On the 26<sup>th</sup> of that month, the victim gave some money to the Appellant. The

Appellant left and came back late and said he had been to a casino. The victim was upset that the Appellant spent her money so, money that was intended to support the family. She was aware of what the Appellant could do when he became angry with her, so she left and stayed with a friend.

The victim returned two days later, sitting at the back door of the apartment, her dead dog's blanket about her person on account of the rain and the cold. One of her sons invited her inside, but she declined, initially, on account of her fear of her husband. At some point she decided to enter the apartment. Her sons and the Appellant were present. She expected to be slapped by the Appellant but he just looked at her.

On the following Wednesday, the sons were in school and the Appellant had gone to Labor Ready, seeking employment. At some point the victim heard the sound of the Appellant's truck and heard the Appellant come into the apartment. The victim went to the bathroom and sat on the toilet. The Appellant came into the bathroom, saw her sitting there, and told her that he needed to speak with her. The victim left the bathroom, and, rather than leaving the apartment as she thought to do, she went to the front of the apartment. The Appellant grabbed her hair and threw her down to the floor and began kicking her. Then he grabbed a chain and whipped her with that. The Appellant told the victim to shut up while she screamed for help.

The Appellant then threw the victim into the room in which they slept. He got a pillow and tried to smother her. The victim resisted, so the Appellant got a hatchet and slowly moved the blade across her neck. The victim continued to resist. The Appellant then slapped her, pulled her hair, and tried to turn her over on her stomach. After he turned her over, the Appellant struck her head with the hatchet.

The Appellant was tired after he struck the victim with the hatchet, so he laid himself down and asked the victim to lie down with him, telling the victim to take off her clothes. The victim did

this and the Appellant then put handcuffs on her. The victim lay next to the Appellant, waiting for him to go to sleep from the effects of alcohol. After awhile, she managed to grab a pair of blue shorts with her feet and drag them up her legs until she could reach them with her hands. She then got up, got the Appellant's cell phone and called emergency services.

The victim told the police in this call that the Appellant and she had been playing and that the Appellant handcuffed her. When law enforcement arrived, she "tippy -toed" to the door to let them in. She said she initially lied because she did not think the officers would see bruises. When the officers did arrive, and saw a gash in her head and the handcuffs, she told them that the Appellant had tried to kill her.

The victim went to hospital. Photographs were made of her various injuries, injuries resulting from having been beaten, kicked, whipped with a chain, and struck and cut with a hatchet.

After being treated at the hospital, the victim returned to the apartment to be with her sons. The Appellant was not present. Her sons and she used candles in the apartment. At some point they heard a sound without the apartment; one son looked out of a window and saw the Appellant. The Appellant began kicking the back door. The victim and her sons called emergency services again and ended up staying the night at the Salvation Army. The victim and her sons then stayed in a motel room in Hattiesburg for another four days, and then left the State for South Dakota.

On cross-examination, the victim admitted that she did not tell law enforcement that the Appellant tried to smother her with a pillow. She admitted that she told her treating physician that there was no violence in her home. She admitted that she had testified that the Appellant had not struck her before. She said she had signed some letters but that she did not know what the contents were. In those letters, Exhibits 33, 34, 35, the victim indicated that she was not sure who had attacked her. She was in the company of the Appellant's relatives when she signed at least one of

them. She said she signed them to keep the Appellant's brother from bothering her.

On re-direct examination, the prosecutor asked the victim why she was afraid of the Appellant if the Appellant had never assaulted her in the past. The victim then related an incident in which she left the Appellant for two days, returned, and was then put into the trunk of a car by the Appellant, taken to a park, and beaten. She also stated that there had been incidents of violence in the past. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 78 - 130).

Herbert Cocroth, a police officer with the Hattiesburg police department on 26 September 2007, responded to a call for assistance made from the victim's apartment. When he arrived, the victim put her hands out of the front door. She was partially undressed and in a pair of handcuffs. She said her husband and she "did some activities with some handcuffs." He called for assistance

After the second officer arrived, Cocroth and he approached the apartment. The victim opened the door a little more. Cocroth saw bruises and abrasions on her person. He asked the victim about them, and she told him that she had fallen off a bicycle. Cocroth asked her again about her injuries. At that point she told him that she and her husband "had been in a domestic abuse."

An ambulance was summoned for the victim. After a third officer arrived, the Cocroth and the second officer to arrive went through the apartment. They did not find the Appellant there, but they did find a chain and a hatchet. There were blood stains everywhere. There were several windows open. The officers believed that Appellant left the apartment through one of them. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 133 - 140; Vol. 3, 141 - 149).

Another officer testified that he was sent to the apartment later that day to investigate a report that the Appellant was attempting to break into the victim's apartment. 149 - 154).

The victim's treating physician detailed the victim's injuries, which included a large laceration to her scalp, and many bruises to her chest arms and legs. She was in great pain at the

time of treatment. She reported that she had been hit by her husband with an ax and with his fists. (R. Vol. 3, pp. 177 - 184).

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN ADMITTING EVIDENCE OF PRIOR BAD ACTS UNDER M.R.E. 404(b) AND WITHOUT CONSIDERING M.R.E. 403?

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ADMITTING PRIOR BAD ACT EVIDENCE

#### **ARGUMENT**

1. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ADMITTING PRIOR BAD ACT EVIDENCE

The Appellant asserts that the trial court erred in admitting testimony by the victim that the Appellant had assaulted her on prior occasions. It was error, says this Appellant, because it was not admissible under M.R.E. 404(b) or because the trial court failed consider M.R.E. 403 in the course of admitting the testimony under Rule 404(b).

The standard of review concerning the admission or exclusion of evidence at trial is a familiar one. A trial court enjoys a great deal of discretion as to the relevancy and admissibility of evidence. This Court will not disturb a trial court's rulings in this regard unless the trial court has abused its discretion to the prejudice of an accused. *Liddell v. State*, 33 So.2d 524 (Miss. Ct. App. 2010).

#### **FACTS**

In the course of the victim's testimony on direct examination, the victim was asked whether the Appellant had ever struck her. There was an objection as to "possible prior bad acts," which was overruled. The victim then testified that the Appellant never hit her. (R. Vol. 2, pg. 82). Further on, though, the Appellant testified that she was frightened of the Appellant. When asked why, she

stated that he had hurt her before and that she knew what he was capable of doing. There was an objection to this testimony. The trial court indicated to the prosecutor that he was treading on thin ice and instructed the prosecutor to move along and concentrate on the incident for which the Appellant was being tried. (R. Vol. 2, pg. 86).

On cross-examination, the victim admitted, more or less, that she had originally told the police officers that she received her injuries in consequence of having fallen off a bicycle. She admitted that she told the treating physician that there was no history of violence in her home. Yet, she also stated that she was scared of the Appellant. She then testified that the Appellant had struck her in the past.

The victim admitted having signed Exhibits 33, 34, and 35, but she stated that she did not read them and did not know their contents. She said that the Appellant's relative typed them and that she signed them to keep him from bothering her. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 110 - 126).

On re-direct examination, the prosecutor elicited testimony from the victim about the incident in which the Appellant forced her into the trunk of a car and then beat her. There was an objection. However, the ground of the objection was that "She had already testified that there's never been any violence in this home, and now she's trying to change her testimony again." The trial court responded, "Go ahead." (R. Vol. 2, pp. 127). After the victim related the incident, the defense objected again, asserting that the testimony was "prior bad acts." The trial court responded, "Move along." (R. Vol. 2, pp. 127 - 128).

#### **ARGUMENT**

During the State's direct examination of the victim, in response to a question by the prosecutor, the victim testified that the Appellant had not hit her before the assault involved in this case. While the Appellant would say that this was an attempt to inject prior bad acts into the case.

the answer cured any such alleged improper attempt by the prosecution. The victim did not testify to any prior bad acts at that point.

Later in the direct examination, when the victim testified that she was scared of the Appellant, the prosecutor asked the victim why she was scared. The victim testified that the Appellant had hurt her before and that she knew what he was capable of doing. When the prosecutor asked the victim what she meant by having been hurt before, the defense objected. The trial court admonished the prosecutor and instructed her to "move along." The prosecutor then moved on to something else, the victim never answering that last question.

As to this latter instance cited by the Appellant (Brief for the Appellant at 8), the Appellant did not secure a ruling on his objection. The phrase "move on" is not a ruling. The failure to secure a ruling works a waiver of the objection. On the other hand, should it be that this Court should find that the trial court did actually rule on the objection, and in effect sustained the objection, the Appellant failed to request a limiting instruction. This failure also works a waiver of the issue. *Snider v. State*, 755 So.2d 507, 510 (Miss. 1999). In any event, the victim did not testify as to what she meant by having been hurt before.

While it may be that the State, during the direct examination of the victim, asked two questions that might have received answers which possibly would have disclosed prior acts of abuse, the fact is that the State did not get any such testimony into evidence. However, during cross examination, the defense asked a number of questions about prior instances of domestic abuse and why the victim was frightened of the Appellant. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 114 - 116). Regardless of the question of whether prior instances of abuse were relevant under Rule 404(b), these questions by the defense surely opened the door to the issue of prior instances of abuse. *Martin v. State*, 970 So.2d 723, 725 - 726 (Miss. 2007). Once the defense put questions to the victim as to prior acts of abuse

and why she was afraid of the Appellant, the State legitimately followed those questions up with its own questions. Since the door was opened to the issue of why the victim was afraid of the Appellant, the trial court committed no error in permitting the State to explore the matter on re-direct examination. We also note that the defense did not make a object on "bad act" grounds until after the victim had testified about the car trunk incident. (R. Vol. 2, pg. 128). The objection made prior to the relation of that incident was not an objection under Rule 404. The Appellant's "bad act" objection as to the car trunk incident was too late. *Hodges v. State*, 14 So.3rd 786, 789 (Miss. Ct. App. 2009). We also note that the trial court's response to the prior bad act objection did not constitute a ruling.

As for whether the evidence of a prior act of domestic abuse was admissible under M.R.E. 404(b) we submit that under the circumstances of this case that evidence was admissible. The victim gave one or two stories to the police officers as how she had been handcuffed or injured before she told them the truth. She also later wrote letters or affidavits, at the behest of the Appellant's relative, in which she indicated that she was not sure who had attacked her. Her trial testimony was at times somewhat contradictory. She was considerably upset at trial. The evidence would have been useful in explaining the victim's statements and behavior. It would not have been admitted to prove the Appellant's character.

The purposes set out in Rule 404(b) for which prior bad acts may be admitted are not exhaustive. *Liddell v. State*, 33 So.3rd 524, 530 (Miss. Ct. App. 2010). The Appellant's prior act of abuse was relevant and admissible to explain the victim's actions subsequent to the assault the Appellant committed in the case at bar.

As for the Appellant's complaint concerning the lack of a M.R.E. 403 analysis, the record is quite clear that the Appellant never objected on the basis of that rule or requested the trial court

to conduct such an analysis. That being so, he may not be heard here to complain that no such analysis was performed. *McLaurin v. State*, 31 So.3rd 1263, 1269 - 1270 (Miss. Ct. App. 2009). While the Appellant relies upon *Robinson v. State*, 2009 WL 1524913 (Miss. Ct. App. 2 June 2009)(Rev. *Robinson v. State*, WL 1909559 (Miss. 13 May 2010), for the proposition that admission of evidence under Rule 404(b) requires, with or without the request of the opposing party, an analysis under Rule 403, *McLaurin*, which was decided in November of 2009, clearly rejects any such requirement. To the extent that there was a requirement that a trial court conduct a 403 analysis, regardless of a specific request therefor, *McLaurin* is clearly a change in the law on the point.

In the event, however, that this Court should find that the admission of a prior act of domestic violence was error, any such error should be considered harmless. The victim's testimony clearly proved the Appellant's guilt. Her testimony concerning what the Appellant did to her was corroborated by the photographs of her injuries, the testimony of the police officers and the testimony of the treating physician. There was no testimony evidence opposed to the State's case. Quite simply, the Appellant's guilt was overwhelmingly proved, and the verdict of the jury would not have been different had the prior bad act been admitted. Under these circumstances, should the Court find that it was error to admit the prior bad act evidence it should also find that it was harmless. *Baldwin v. State*, 732 So.2d 236, 245 (Miss. 1999)(Erroneous admission of evidence under Rule 404(b)); *Sims v. State*, 928 So.2d 984 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006)(Failure to perform Rule 403 balancing test).

### CONCLUSION

The Appellant's conviction and sentence should be affirmed.